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January 29, 2007

Ohio Parole Board

1050 Freeway Dr. North

Columbus, OH 43229

Re:  Nancy Smith, #W034304

Dear Members of the Ohio Parole Board:

Attached please find a petition, along with the supporting exhibits attached, in support of the immediate parole and release of inmate Nancy Smith, # W034304.  As set forth in detail below and in the supporting exhibits, we, the Ohio Innocence Project at the University of Cincinnati College of Law, submit this petition after over three years of work on Nancy’s case.  In the course of our work on Nancy’s behalf, we have come to believe that Nancy Smith is, as she has always maintained, innocent of the charges for which she was convicted. While we realize that claims of actual innocence are beyond the scope of this board’s review, evidence supporting these claims is relevant to your considerations of her amenability to parole.   Further, Nancy’s sterling behavior record and her numerous achievements while incarcerated all support Nancy’s ability to conform to any requirements of parole this body may impose and to return to society as a productive member.  In light of all this, the interests of justice require Nancy’s immediate release on parole by the Ohio Parole Board.  

WHO ARE WE?

The Ohio Innocence Project (“OIP”) is part of the Innocence Network, which is based in New York City and has branch offices at law schools in more than 30 states across the nation.  In the last 10 years, close to 200 wrongfully convicted inmates have been released from prison through the assistance of Innocence Projects across the country.  

The OIP is run by Professor Mark Godsey, a former federal prosecutor who now teaches Criminal Law at the University of Cincinnati College of Law; and Jenny Carroll, a former public defender who now serves as the OIP Academic Director.  The OIP commenced in May 2003 by hiring 18 full time law students to review cases of Ohio inmates who have steadfastly maintained their innocence in the face of their convictions.  The OIP is a non-profit organization that operates through private donations, and is assisting Nancy Smith without charge.  We have elected to extend our limited resources on Nancy Smith’s case because the “red flags” and indicia of possible innocence are plainly visible.     

DISCUSSION
Nancy Smith was convicted in August 1994 in Lorain County of gross sexual imposition, attempted rape, rape and complicity to rape, and sentenced to 4 to 90 years’-imprisonment. At the trial, there was no physical evidence which tied Nancy Smith to the crimes.  The only evidence against was the testimony of the victims, all children between the  ages of four and five years old, who claimed that in May, 1993 Nancy Smith had sexually assaulted them.   At the time of the accusation, Nancy Smith was a bus driver for Community Bus Service and was responsible for transporting the children to classes held at two Head Start locations in the city of Lorain, Ohio. Nancy was accused of taking the children to the home of her co-defendant, Joseph Allen, rather than to school, where the children were allegedly bound, molested, and raped by both Smith and Allen. What began with one child, Nikki Zelik, then five years old, telling her mother that Nancy Smith had taken her and some other children to Joseph’s house instead of school, rapidly spread throughout the Lorain Head Start community and the accusations grew both in number and in fantastic detail.

In addition to the lack of physical evidence against Nancy, or her co-defendant Joseph Allen, no expert witnesses  was ever called to testify as to the children’s physical or emotional injuries which would suggest that their stories were true. It seems unimaginable that the State would fail to present both physical evidence against Nancy or Joseph, but would also fail to provide any testimony as to the manifestations of abuse in these children. Nancy Smith was convicted solely on the basis of the stories off her accusers, four and five year old children, and their parents’ account of the children’s original statements.   The State was undeterred by the fact that there was no physical evidence linking Nancy to the case, or the fact that the children’s stories could not be corroborated in any way, and in fact was contradicted by records showing that Nancy’s bus had not deviated from her route as suggested by the children and that the children had difficulty identifying Joseph Allen in police line ups.

Looking back, it is difficult to assess whether or not the crime for which Nancy was convicted ever occurred, and we do not seek to make that judgment in the course of this appeal, but what is clear is that Nancy’s conviction rested on the barest of evidence in a time in our nation’s history of the “daycare hysteria”, in which several citizens were convicted of crimes at daycare centers which were later proved unfounded.  (See Attached Exhibit 1, Wikipedia: Day Care Sexual Abuse Hysteria). It is certainly not beyond the scope of possibility given the small amount of the evidence against her, that during this period in the 1980s and early 1990s, that this crime did not occur, and that Nancy Smith fell victim to deeply rooted concerns of parents who misinterpreted their children. In turn, the children could have been affected by the power of suggestion thorough overzealous government and parental investigation that may have influenced the statements they made, and ultimately convicted Nancy Smith. Sadly, regardless of whether or not the children were actual victims of sexual abuse, they have lived their whole lives thinking that they are, and therefore have fallen victim to a well-intentioned but flawed system.   This is not to make light of sexual abuse or the suffering of its victims, but to note that particularly during the time period around Nancy’s convictions, the climate of hysteria was heavily influencing the judicial system to the point that prosecutions went forward despite scant evidence, and information suggesting innocence. For Nancy Smith this reality is not an academic discussion, but resulted in her conviction and incarceration for a crime that she very likely did not commit.

Furthermore, it will be shown that Nancy Smith made the best of her situation while incarcerated.  Instead of engaging in self pity, Nancy decided to better herself educationally and spiritually.  She prepared for her return to employment in society by serving as a horticulture apprentice for 10 years and earned her degree from Columbus State University in culinary arts.  She also developed her faith by joining various religious organizations and taking religious courses to further her understanding of Catholicism.  

Regardless of the injustices that occurred in the past, Nancy has served the statutory minimum sentence for the crimes of which she was convicted and now deserves to return to her family and friends.  To ensure her success outside of the prison system, Nancy has developed a detailed release plan.  She plans to live in her family’s four-bedroom home with her brother, a single man without children, rent free upon her release. (See Exhibit 2: Affidavit of Thomas Miller).  At the family home, she will be surrounded by the support and love of her family and provided with the privacy and amenities needed to reintegrate into society successfully.  She also has been assured employment by Hawks Greenhouse located on 2810 North Ridge Road, Elyria, Ohio 44035 (See Exhibit 3: Affidavit of Daniel Hawks, Owner of Hawks Green House), where she will be able to apply her horticulture skills to her occupational tasks.  With this plan of residency and occupation, Nancy will be able to reach her goal of being a productive citizen who lives a simple, quiet life.   

OVERWHELMING EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE 

In reviewing Nancy’s case, it is readily apparent that there is significant body of evidence that points to Nancy’s innocence.  This evidence includes school attendance sheets that show the children were in school on the days of the alleged crimes, line up tapes that show the children were subject to questionable and coercive investigation tactics, affidavits by school bus aides that rode with Nancy on the week of the alleged crimes which state that no inappropriate conduct occurred, police reports that support Nancy’s innocence, evidence that Nancy took a lie-detector test and passed, psychological evaluations by an expert that determined the children were subject to highly suggestible investigation and interview tactics, as well as media and parental influence, and procedural difficulties which hindered her ability to have adequate defense and a fair trial. Despite the existence of this evidence, much of it was not given to Nancy’s defense counsel until the trial had already begun, therefore, though presented on trial, was not seen in a proper light, and following her trial was excluded from being introduced during Nancy’s various appeals. As a result, while this evidence clearly supports Nancy’s long held contention that she was innocent, most of the evidence was not properly presented to either a jury or a judge.

I. School attendance sheets and line up tapes support Nancy’s innocence.

Despite the children’s claim that they had been taken by Nancy to Joseph Allen’s home in lieu of school, school attendance sheets from the time of the alleged crime show that the children were present for class.  Such records were kept regularly by teachers at the school who owed Nancy no allegiance and had no incentive to falsify records.    These records, therefore, support Nancy’s claim that the allegations against her were false.  (See Exhibit 4: Attendance Sheets). 

In addition to these records, line up procedures recorded in connection with the police investigation point to Nancy’s innocence and exemplify how the children’s testimony was heavily influenced by their susceptibility to suggestions made by the adults close to the investigation – members of the police force and the children’s parents. In the video tape of Joseph Allen’s line up,only one of four of the alleged victims picked Joseph Allen. The rest picked other men. The police did everything in their power to attempt to get the children to pick Allen. As each child failed to pick Mr. Allen, and identified someone else, the police made additional requests of the participants in the line up in a vain effort to encourage the children to reconsider their initial choice.  In addition to the conduct of police investigators, parents are scene in the video whispering into their child’s ear while the child was picking from the line up. One even moved their child’s arm toward Allen when the child was pointing at the line up. (See Exhibit 5: Memorandum in Support of Jurisdiction filed with the 9th District Court of Appeals; See also Exhibit 6: Doubts Linger Years After Lorain Head Start Sex Trial; see also Exhibit 7: Videotape documentation of the lineup). 

II. Nancy did not leave her bus route during the week the alleged incidents occur.

In addition to the attendance records and the questionable line ups, there was no evidence that Nancy ever deviated from her bus route or engaged in improper conduct with her juvenile passengers.  As this was a critical part of the victims’ story, it strongly supports Nancy’s claim of actual innocence.  Sherry Hagerman was an adult bus aide on the bus the day of the initial accusation Nikki Zelik made to her mother. She was available to testify that the bus went to school on schedule. However, Nancy Smith’s counsel failed to ask Ms. Hagerman to testify on Nancy Smith’s behalf. Sherry Hagerman later stated in an affidavit, dated March 27, 1998, that Nancy Smith made no such trip on the days Sherry rode with her, and that Nancy always followed her route and stayed close to schedule. (See Exhibit 8, Affidavit of Sherry Hagerman).

Ms. Hagerman further stated that Nancy was protective of the children on her bus, always making sure that the person waiting for the children at the bus stop was either a parent or someone the child knew. Additionally, Ms. Hagerman stated that she never saw Nancy allow any adult on the bus other than the parents or relatives of the children. Ms. Hagerman rode with Nancy the week she supposedly molested the children, and said that during this time, she never saw Nancy do anything inappropriate or improper.

Corroborating Ms. Hagerman’s representations, Kymberley Spangler, a parent of one of the Head Start students who rode Nancy’s bus, wrote in an affidavit dated November 28, 2005, she occasionally rode on the bus with Nancy during the time the alleged crimes occurred and that she never saw anything improper, nor did her son ever mention anything strange going on. She said Nancy was highly professional, that all the children seemed to like her, and that no children acted withdrawn or scared. Ms. Spangler called Nancy’s defense attorney to testify but unfortunately her call was never returned.  (See Exhibit 9: Affidavit of Kymberley Spangler). 

III. Police reports report evidence in favor of Nancy Smith’s innocence. 

Police reports filed during the initial investigation also support Nancy’s claim that she had not committed the crime for which she was accused. These reports reveal multiple inconsistencies among the children’s statements in terms of their description of the suspects, the location of the crime and the incidents that allegedly occurred. 

For instance, a detective interviewed a witness who stated that a woman visited Joseph Allen regularly and she lived on the corner of West 18th and Reid Avenue. When the witness was shown a photo of Nancy, she confirmed Nancy was the woman she was talking about.   Following up on this witness’s statement, police went to the location and found another woman living in the home who happened to look like Nancy. Another report indicates that Nancy’s mother gave the police a list of the children on her bus route, and that when the children were interviewed, they stated they had never been touched by Nancy, nor had they been taken to Joseph Allen’s house. Incident to this investigation, an officer interviewed two concerned parents who let him question their children. The children stated that they had never gone to Nancy’s house, nor did they know anyone named Joseph. One officer interviewed a parent who actually rode Nancy’s bus with her son to and from school, who said that there was no way a bus driver or anyone else could take a student out of school at anytime. Most importantly, was the conclusion of one police report that all of the alleged victims in the case had been interviewed and the inconsistencies were many, but the evidence supporting the children’s claim was lacking. The victims were claiming to have been assaulted in two different houses – both Nancy and Joseph’s. Their descriptions were inconsistent in both the physical appearance of the homes and the location of them. Further, their descriptions of the homes did not match the description of Nancy’s house.  (See Exhibit 5: Memorandum in Support of Jurisdiction filed with the 9th District Court of Appeals).Finally, the initial lead investigator in the case, Tom Cantu stated in a letter sent to the Ohio Innocence Project on January 25, 2007, that he had interviewed the children involved in the complaints and that the children all denied that Nancy had done anything to them. Further, there was no evidence, either physical or circumstantial to show that she had anything to do with the crime she had been charged with. (See Exhibit 10: Letter from Detective Tom Cantu). Unfortunately, after Mr. Cantu began supporting Nancy’s innocence, he was promoted and removed from her case. 

The actual copies of these police reports can be found on file at the 9th District Court of Appeals. (See Exhibit 5 : Memorandum in Support of Jurisdiction filed with the 9th District Court of Appeals, which summarizes each of these police reports individually.)

IV. Nancy Smith passed a polygraph (lie-detector test) that she requested be taken.
Detective Tom Cantu stated in his letter to the OIP, dated January 27, 2007, that Nancy Smith requested a polygraph test and was taken to BCI in Richfield for the test. The Polygrapher, James Krakora, determined that Nancy Smith had been truthful in all of her testing and that she did not partake in, or sexually abuse any of the alleged victims. A copy of this test can be found in the Lorain County Prosecutor’s Office. Detective Cantu also recorded this information in one of his police reports filed with the 9th District Court of Appeals. (See Exhibit 5: pp. 4-8, Memorandum in Support of Jurisdiction filed with the 9th District Court of Appeals; see also Exhibit 10: Letter from Det. Tom Cantu). For an actual copy of the results of this polygraph report, please contact the BCI office in Richfield. Unfortunately we were unable to get a copy of the report because the BCI will not release information to people outside of investigators or the prosecution.   

V. Nancy Smith was convicted solely on the basis of the testimony of four and five year
old children and their parents.

In the face of all the evidence supporting Nancy’s claim of innocence, the State none the less proceeded in their prosecution of her relying on solely on the testimony of the alleged victims and their parents’ accounts of their stories.  The State did not present any expert medical testimony documenting physical or psychological trauma that the children who had suffered a crime like this would have exhibited. In fact, expert testimony was later taken prior to Nancy’s second appeal, which indicated that the children’s testimony was the result of parental and media contamination, as well as suggestive interviews by professional investigators. Unfortunately, because the issue had already been brought up in Nancy’s first appeal, this evidence was not allowed to be presented during her second appeal. The issue itself was not decided on the merits of the evidence, rather it was decided on procedural grounds, so the information offered was never actually considered by a court. (See Exhibit 11: p. 2, Appeal, 9th District Court of Appeals, January 24, 1996, see also, Exhibit 12: p. 2, Appeal, 9th District Court of Appeals, January 28, 1998).


Because the experience of testifying in court as a victim of sexual abuse is already

highly dramatic and complicated, this is only elevated when the witness is four or five years of age. Further, the question of competency arises given the young age of the child, so much that some courts have required a “taint” hearing to determine the child’s competency prior to trial. The state of Ohio does not require a taint hearing, so less precaution was taken when putting these children on the stand. (See Exhibit 13: The Taint Hearing: False Allegations of Child Sexual Abuse).

At the bequest of Head Start’s counsel during the civil suit in 1998, , Kathleen M. Quinn, M.D., Section Head for Child & Adolescent Psychiatry at the Cleveland Clinic Foundation, conducted interviews with the children to determine whether or not they were victims of sex offenses. The interviews took place in July and August of 1998. Head Start’s counsel agreed to give the interviews Martin Yant, a private investigator working on Nancy’s case after the civil suit was settled. Mr. Yant agreed to let the OIP have them to help support Nancy’s case. Unfortunately the issue of expert witness testimony had already been brought up on appeal by this time rendering their information useless in the court system. (See Exhibit 11: p. 6, Appeal, 9th District Court of Appeals, January 24, 1996). The interviews indicate that there was contamination by the parents to the statements being made by the children.  One interview conducted with Nikki Zelek and her mother and step-father stated in the final opinion that:

The assessment of the Head Start allegations involving Nikki Zelek includes significant problems with parental contamination, failure to permit a spontaneous free-call narrative by the child, leading and overly specific questioning, repetitive questions, failure to separate fantasy from reality accounts, and failure to explore alternate hypotheses and psychosexual factors. Questioning illustrates the vulnerability of preschoolers to these improper techniques and the resulting negative impact on the reliability of the investigation. All the adults involved in the questioning failed to maintain an openness to alternate explanations of the complaints. The local professionals failed to appreciate the negative impact of the parental, community and media contamination, and added to it by permitting the involvement of family in the investigatory interviews. 

Emphasis added. (See Attached Exhibit 14: page 14, paragraph 1, Report on Nikki Zelek from the Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Sept. 1, 1998). 

Similar results were found when Dr. Quinn interviewed Antuan Powell, another alleged victim. In the final opinion, the Dr. Quinn stated, 

The assessment of the allegations surrounding Antuan begin with parent-to-parent contact and the sharing of specific aspects of the evaluation, as well as a group interview by professionals of potential victims, including Antuan. Both events and the subsequent coercive, leading, and intense formal and informal questioning of this preschooler indicate a significantly flawed evaluation, and include factors strongly associated with significant contamination.

(See Exhibit 15: p. 11, paragraph 1, Report on Antuan Powell from the Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Sept. 1, 1998).

The evaluation of alleged victim Jonathan Gibson stated that the professional investigators and interviewers failed to appreciate major inconsistencies in his accounts or significant difference in their interviews and the parental reports. When questioned by professionals, the questions were leading and too specific, plus the parents continued to contaminate him with the use of media information. (See Exhibit 16: p. 6, paragraph 7, Report on Jonathan Gibson from the Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Sept. 1, 1998). Originally, Jonathan Gibson was said to have  tested positive for Chlamydia. However in a psychological evaluation of Jonathan, the doctor stated, “The weigh [sic] of the medical test of a positive Chlamydia antigen test was misjudged and Jonathan was treated as though he had a documented active sexually transmitted disease. Treatment records then perpetuate this “fact.” (See Exhibit 16: p. 6, paragraph 6, Report on Jonathan Gibson from the Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Sept. 1, 1998). In other words, he did not have Chlamydia, though everyone was led to believe he did. 

An evaluation was also conducted on Amanda Winebrenner which had the same conclusion as the other children regarding suggestive and over-talkative parents, and poor interviewing tactics that may have been coercive. (See Exhibit 17: p. 10, paragraph 1, Report on Amanda Winebrenner from the Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Sept. 1, 1998). 

Given the concerns raised by Dr. Quinn regarding the coerced nature of the children’s narrative, the use of the child hearsay exception which allowed the children’s parents to testify to their out of court statements regarding the alleged sexual abuse is problematic.  Ordinarily, the court is allowed to make an exception to the hearsay rule and allow an adult to testify to a child’s statement to protect the child from the trauma of the having to testify in open court, particularly regarding a matter as sensitive as a sexual assault.  The theory is that any concerns about the accuracy of the parent’s account will be ameliorated by the fact that other professionals will have interviewed the child and can also speak to his/her account.  In this case, Dr. Quinn’s concerns about coercion extend beyond the parents of the victims to all the adults involved in the case.  This raises serious concerns about the accuracy of the testimony given that the statements were made under blatantly suggestive interviewing techniques by either the parents or investigators thus eviscerating any protections the child hearsay rule may have relied on. (See Exhibit 18: p. 600-603, Child Witnesses and Procedural Fairness).  The use of the child hearsay rule in this case is especially troubling given that the court did allow three of the children  to testify on their own. Because of this allowance, the children’s parent’s testimony was unnecessary, potentially unreliable, and may have seriously prejudiced the outcome of Nancy Smith’s case. 

VI. Daycare sexual abuse hysteria of the 1980s and early 1990s.

One possible explanation for the State’s willingness to proceed with Nancy’s case despite its problematic evidence was the national climate at the time.  Nancy Smith’s case arose during the national hysteria in the 1980s and early 1990s, over day-care sex abuse accusations. During this time, more than 150 people were charged in major sex abuse and ritualistic cases, over 72 were convicted, several were later exonerated. The below cases are examples of the phenomena:

Two couples, the McCuans and the Kniffens, were sentenced to over 240 years in prison in 1984. The initial charges were made by a woman with a history of mental illness. The investigators used coercive techniques to get the children to tell of abuse. Eventually they reported that the children had been used for prostitution, child pornography and torture. The McCuans and Kniffens convictions were overturned in 1996, after the courts found that the accusations were false and outrageous.

A year later, the infamous McMartin pre-school trial began, when a mother with a history of false accusations accused the McMartin family of sexually abusing her child. The trial lasted for seven years. Finally all charges were dropped in 1990. The accusations involved hidden tunnels, killing animals, Satan worship and orgies.

In Massachusetts in 1984, a five year old told a family member that his bus driver had touched his penis. The boy’s mother notified authorities and the driver was arrested. Several children began telling stories which included being abused by a clown and a robot in a secret room. One girl claimed the driver had penetrated her anus with a knife. The bus driver was sentenced to 30-40 years in state prison. He was exonerated in 2004. 

In 1985, a child had his temperature taken with a rectal thermometer, and he told his nurse that that was what his teacher did to him at naptime. His nurse alerted authorities. The children were interviewed and accused their 23-year-old teacher of spreading peanut butter on their genitals and licking it off, as well as anal and vaginal penetration with knives, forks and other objects. She was convicted and sentenced to 47 years. After five years, she was released on appeal. The New Jersey Supreme Court in concluding that the charges were baseless stated that “the interviews of the children were highly improper and utilized coercive and unduly suggestive methods.”

(For more information on these and other cases see Exhibit 1: Wikipedia: Day Care Sexual Abuse Hysteria).

Cases such as these continued all the way through the early 1990s, the same time frame in which Nancy Smith was convicted. These cases were all over the media, and the parents of these children were getting massive civil settlements for the alleged abuse of their children. This well publicized phenomena created a wave of accusations throughout the United States and even internationally, in places such as New Zealand and Canada. Several of the largest cases were either eventually overturned (after the accused spent several years in prison for a crime they did not commit), and the accused were released and found innocent. 

In Nancy’s case, the entire investigation and the accompanying accusations started when one mother found a leaf in her daughter’s underpants, and her daughter stated that the bus driver’s boyfriend “peed in my face. He put his mouth and kissed me between my legs, then he put a stick in there [between her legs].” The mother’s rightful concern drew more concerned parents whose children told fantastic stories of needles penetrating their anuses, having their mouths taped, playing games such as “doctor” with no clothes on, Nancy coming to class wearing a mask, and taking the children from class and out of school (See Exhibit 15: p. 2-3, last paragraph of page 2, Report on Antuan Powell from the Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Sept. 1, 1998), and  a man tying one boy up to a tree and threatening to kill him when the boy refused to drink a cup of urine. (See Exhibit 6: Doubts Linger Years After Lorain Head Start Sex Trial). The children’s accounts were inconsistent – the abuser was sometimes described as white, other times as black. They varied on whether the alleged crimes took place at Nancy Smith’s house or Joseph Allen’s house. (See Exhibit 6: article: Doubts Linger Years After Lorain Head Start Sex Trial). As stated above, in every one of the interviews with the alleged victims, the doctors who examined the children stated that the children were heavily influenced by parental statements made outside of the interviews, as well as poor interviewing tactics performed by professional investigators. (See Exhibits14, 15, 16 and 17: The Reports on each of the child victims from the Cleveland Clinic Foundation, for all interviews that took place with the children.) These are all factors that played into the release of so many others accused of sex offenses in daycare centers. It’s time to set Nancy free as well. 

PROCEDURAL DIFFICULTIES

I. Nancy Smith was denied severance from a her co-defendant, a convicted and 
released sex offender, which hindered her change at a fair trial. 

There is no question that Nancy’s claim of innocence was damaged by the court’s refusal to allow severance of the defendants.  Joseph Allen had a prior conviction for child molestation, which the State not only introduced into evidence, but actually brought the victim in to testify against Allen.  Nancy Smith had no prior criminal record. Because they were tried together, the jury could have been heavily influenced, regarding Nancy’s case, by the witness’s testimony used against Allen, thus prejudicing the outcome of her case. (See Exhibit 11: p. 2, Appeal, 9th District Court of Appeals, January 24, 1996). 

II. The Prosecutor’s behavior during trial was inappropriate and could have preju-
diced the outcome of Nancy Smith’s case.

Equally troubling was the prosecutor’s failure to disclose relevant exculpatory evidence in a timely manner. As a result, Nancy’s attorneys were either unaware of the evidence supporting Nancy’s claims or made aware of the information at such a late stage – often after the trial had commenced --  that they were unable to incorporate it successfully into her defenses.  In addition, the prosecutor did not disclose the prior conviction of a key State witness despite his obligation to do so. Nancy’s counsel’s being unaware that a key State witness had a prior conviction and was on probation could have prejudiced the outcome of Nancy’s case, since Nancy’s defense counsel could have pursued further investigation as to the reliability of this witness, in case they needed to impeach her. (See Exhibit 11: p. 4, Appeal, 9th District Court of Appeals, January 24, 1996). Troubling examples of such exculpatory evidence include statements by witnesses that they were pressured by the State to testify untruthfully.  After the trial had finished, State witness Kathy Cole came forward and completed an affidavit in which she stated that the prosecutor had pressured her into testimony which she did not believe to be truthful. In particular, Cole stated that when she expressed concern prior to the trial to the prosecutor, Jonathan Rosenbaum that she was uncertain about her identification of Joseph Allen he said, “goddammit, you will answer the way I want you to. . .Is that understood?” Although uncomfortable with what she knew her testimony would be, she agreed. She stated that she felt Rosenbaum was prompting her to say something that was inaccurate and did not reflect her own beliefs. (See Exhibit 19: Affidavit of Kathy Cole). Ms. Cole’s daughter Donetta Taylor also wrote an affidavit regarding this situation. She stated that she was present when the incident occurred and that this was an accurate description of what took place between her mother and the prosecutor. (See Exhibit 20: Affidavit of Donetta Taylor).

III. Nancy Smith’s defense counsel failed to discover important exculpatory evidence
before it was too late hindering her changes of acquittal.

Given the failure of the prosecution to provide exculpatory evidence in a timely manner, Nancy’s ability to investigate her case and present her defense was severely limited. It is only with the benefit of hindsight that it is apparent that evidence including eye-witness testimony which stated that Nancy did not act inappropriately while driving the bus the week of the alleged incidents, the recordings of the line up revealing the coercive influence of the police and the parents present, and interviews by Dr. Quinn that should have been conducted during Nancy’s trial and not after her second appeal, which concluded that the victim’s stories were the product of coercion, would have significantly bolstered Nancy’s defense. In an affidavit submitted by Keith Yeazel, Esq., a Columbus attorney reviewed the transcripts of Nancy’s case to identify ineffective assistance of counsel stated that, 

reviewing portions of the trial transcript, the Court of Appeals decision, investigators reports, and affidavits, he determined that Appellant’s [Nancy Smith’s] trial counsel had failed to conduct ‘even minimal investigation of the facts surrounding this case,’ failed to call witnesses who could have testified that the Petitioner [Nancy Smith] was not present at the time of the alleged crime, failed to call witnesses who could have impeached the states evidence, including an important expert witness. 

(See Exhibit 5: p. 12, paragraph 3, Memorandum in Support of Jurisdiction of Appellant Nancy Smith). 

This unfortunate lack of investigation by her attorney is exemplified by the two above mentioned affidavits of Kymberley Spangler and Sherry Hagerman, women who rode the bus with Nancy the week the alleged crimes took place and offered to testify, but were never called to the stand on her behalf. (See Exhibit 9: Affidavit of Kymberley Spangler, and Exhibit 8:  Affidavit of Sherry Hagerman). Additionally, the initial lead investigator Tom Cantu firmly believes in Nancy’s innocence, and stated that when her trial started, he was never called to present the findings of his investigations, nor was he allowed to report the polygraph test that was given to Nancy because of the prosecution. (See Exhibit 10: Letter from Detective Tom Cantu).

MEDIA SUPPORT

Despite her conviction, Nancy’s claim of innocence has continued to generate media attention. Numerous articles have been written support of Nancy’s innocence.   These are articles point out that not was Nancy “railroaded” by a well intentioned but flawed system, but she was never given a fair chance to argue her case, due to the prosecution’s decision to withhold evidence because he was more interested in the conviction than justice; the police and her own lawyer’s failure to investigate and victim’s inconsistent and coerced testimony. Attached to this document are the articles written in support of her case. As you will see, the articles beautifully describe the holes and travesties that occurred in order to incarcerate an innocent woman. (See Exhibit 21: Numerous Articles from the Cleveland Plain Dealer, The Chronicle Telegram). 
ACCOMPLISHMENTS DURING INCARCERATION

After Nancy’s wrongful conviction, she did not give up, but used her time during incarceration to better herself in every way possible.  

In 1995, her first year of incarceration, Nancy Smith adjusted to the loss of her freedom and family and began her educational path in prison.  During this year she successfully completed an 8-12 week Domestic Violence Course and an 8-12 week Parenting Course.  She received Certifications of Completion for her success in both courses. (See Exhibit 22: Certificates of Completion).   

During this first year, she also enrolled in a course that would keep her occupied for the majority of her incarceration: horticulture.  She was advised to take the horticulture course based on her previous employment at Marge’s Florist and Joel’s Florist in Lorain, OH from 1975-1979.  Nancy would have continued her occupation as a florist for the rest of her life if she had the choice; but Joel’s Florist went under in 1979, causing Nancy to shift occupations.  Once Nancy returned to horticulture, even though it was in a prison setting, her love for nature returned.  

After receiving a Certificate of Completion for her success in a year long course in horticulture, the horticulture instructor was so impressed by Nancy’s talent and commitment that he asked Nancy to be his full time assistant.  From 1996 to 2001, Nancy diligently served as Instructor Lee Findrich’s assistant.  Her responsibilities included typing and grading examinations, teaching lessons to new horticulture students, and assisting Instructor Findrich in other lectures and projects. 

After successfully assisting Instructor Findrich for five years, Nancy then moved on to becoming Horticulture Instructor Dave Weibel’s full time apprentice.  The apprenticeship was a way of preparing Nancy for a career in horticulture in the outside world.  One of her many new responsibilities included managing the greenhouse.  Nancy was solely in charge of watering the greenhouse, cleaning the greenhouse, checking the ventilation, and caring for the vast array of plants on a daily basis.  Nancy was also in charge of teaching other students classes on various horticultural skills such as flower design and circular floral arrangement.  One of Nancy’s prized accomplishments as a horticulture apprentice was designing and arranging the floral arrangements for various brunches and even for events at the Governor’s mansion. (See Exhibit 22: Certificates of Completion). 

Nancy’s horticultural positions do not only illustrate her love for horticulture; they also show her dedication to bettering herself by honing a skill she can use in the outside world.  The full time positions also illustrate Nancy’s commitment to her chosen field.  Furthermore, it shows her ability to manage the responsibilities of employment and pass on her knowledge to her peers.

While Nancy was busy with her full time horticulture positions, she managed to find time to complete other courses to prepare her for her eventual return to a free life.  In 1998, Nancy successfully completed two current events group discussion courses led by Instructor Jordan.  In the courses, the group read about the international and national events of the current day and then discussed their views on the subjects.  She received Certificates of Completion for her success in both courses.  In 1997, she also took a course in moral reasoning and development to expand her rational thinking skills and earned a certificate for the successful completion of the course. Just last year, Nancy enrolled in and successfully completed the course entitled Money Talks.  Here she learned how to be economically prepared to re-enter society by developing skills in finance management and new banking systems.  Nancy received a Certificate of Completion for her success in the course. (See Exhibit 22: Certificate of Completion).

Despite her love of horticulture, Nancy wanted to explore other options that had not previously been available to her. She decided to expand her chances of receiving employment in the outside world by successfully obtaining a degree in Culinary Arts from Columbus State University.  Nancy diligently worked toward obtaining a degree and her work paid off.  She was honored by being placed on the Dean’s List for almost every quarter and graduated with honors, accumulating a 3.47 GPA. With her new degree in hand, Nancy received a position in the officers’ dining room at the prison, which she currently holds. (See Exhibit 23: Diploma, Dean List Certificates, and Transcript).

Her ambition towards academic success comes as no surprise to those who know Nancy Smith because she also strived for academic success in her life before incarceration.  In 1975, Nancy fell one course short of obtaining her high school diploma.  Although Nancy’s life grew more complicated in the years to follow, due to a marriage that eventually failed due to her husband’s infidelity and the births for four children, Nancy could never forget her failure to complete that one course.  To set an example for her four children and to better herself for the future, Nancy enrolled in night classes at Lorain High School with the goal of earning her high school diploma.  While it would have been easier for a single mother of four who was working multiple jobs, to merely take the evaluation to obtain her GED, Nancy wanted to take the road less traveled by people in her situation in order to show herself and her children that academic success was possible. In 1992, she reached her goal, successfully earning her high school diploma. (See Exhibit 24: Lorain High School Diploma).

As a hobby during her spare time while incarcerated, Nancy took an interest in art.  In 1998, she took a course entitled “Performance in Watercolor” which aided her in learning the basics of painting.  After successfully completing and earning her certificate in the watercolors course, she volunteered in the Art Guild where she was able to paint portraits as gifts for her four beloved children.  (See  Exhibit 22: Certificates of Completion).

While mastering her skills in horticulture, graduating with honors in the culinary program, and bettering herself though various courses, Nancy found time to improve her spiritual life as well. She began her religious journey by enlisting in the Rights of Catholics Initiation Association led by Father David. This is where Nancy made her rededication vow to the church and found her place in the Lord’s House. From 1997 to the present day, Nancy has served as Father David’s, and subsequently Father Bentz’s, personal assistant, which entails helping the Father prepare for weekly mass.  She also became an active member in the Ladies of the Lord, for which she prepares the gifts and the statues for services.  She also finds members of the congregation to perform the readings and to carry the gifts during service.  Finally, she serves as an Angel in Kairos, the Catholic Ministry Retreat Program.  During the retreats, Nancy cooks for the members and helps with the planning.   Nancy also took formal courses to help aid her spiritual knowledge, such as Flowing Forgiveness and 40 Days of Purpose.  She successfully completed both courses and earned Certificates of Completion in each. (See Exhibit 22: Certificates of Completion). 

There is one program Nancy made a conscious decision not to complete during her incarceration.  While Nancy believes that the Sex Offender Program is an essential tool for aiding those who are actually guilty of committing such offenses, she does not believe this program would be appropriate for her because she is actually innocent of the charges for which she is incarcerated, as the evidence laid out in the previous section indicates.  She is aware that she could have lied by admitting guilt and participating in the program just for the purpose of obtaining parole, but her spiritual faith and her respect for the purpose of the program itself would not allow her to obtain parole by taking the easier road and stating falsities to obtain freedom.  While Nancy strongly believes that admitting guilt would go against her moral and spiritual beliefs, she is completely willing to comply with any regulations or conditions placed upon her after release from prison through parole.

Her willingness to comply with post release regulations ordered by the Parole Board is illustrated by Nancy’s exceptional disciplinary record.  From 1994 to the present day, Nancy has only received four conduct reports.  Two of the conduct reports for possession of contraband were delivered during the beginning of Nancy’s incarceration before she was fully familiar with the regulations.  The third conduct report was for disobedience of a direct order, the only disobedience report Nancy has received in 13 years. She has never during her incarceration received any form of disciplinary confinement.  (See Exhibit 25: Institutional Summary Report).  

NANCY SMITH’S POST-RELEASE PLAN

As Nancy Smith has prepared for re-entry into society by developing her occupational and spiritual skills, she has also prepared a detailed plan to ensure that her parole and life in the outside world is a success.  Her goal in this plan is to live a simple, quiet life surrounded by her family, who she loves and misses so much, and to maintain employment in the in the horticultural field which she has spent ten years developing skills in.  

From Marysville she has prepared a living arrangement of returning to her family home in Lorain where she will live with her brother Thomas Miller (See Exhibit 2: Affidavit of Thomas Miller).  Thomas is a single man with no children who is happy to allow Nancy to live in their family’s four-bedroom home which is well over 1,000 feet from a school rent-free. At home, Nancy will be able to have the privacy and amenities she will need for success in the outside world.  By returning to Lorain, Nancy will be able to rely on the support of her family by being in the same community as her brother, sisters, her four now adult age children and her six grandchildren. Even though Nancy has maintained her relationship with her family through visits and phone calls, living among her family once again will allow her to reconnect with her loved ones in a home environment and make her family unit whole in the world once again. 

Nancy has also been able to locate employment in Lorain which will allow her to put her horticulture skills to good use.  She has been offered part time employment at Hawks Greenhouse LLC owned by Daniel R. Hawks. (See Exhibit 3: Affidavit of Daniel R. Hawks). This job opportunity will be similar to her occupation as a horticulture apprentice and the Mr. Hawks is excited to have someone with Nancy’s knowledge, skill, and experience to aid him at the greenhouse.  He is also fully aware of Nancy’s conviction, but steadfastly believes in her actual innocence. 

Nancy has made a spiritual plan as well.  She plans to return to the church of her youth, St. Joseph’s Church.  Based on the religious foundation she has formed during incarceration, she plans to become an active member of the congregation for the remainder of her life. 

Overall, this detailed plan of living arrangements, occupation, and spiritual development will aid Nancy in reaching her goal of living a quiet, simple existence in the presence of her family and friends.  

OVERWHELMING EVIDENCE OF COMMUNITY AND STATE SUPPORT
Many Ohio citizens wish to see Nancy Smith released back into society.  There is overwhelming support around the state by members of all walks of life who are so interested in seeing Nancy regain her freedom that they have taken the time to put their desire in writing.

To begin, the Honorable Retired Cuyahoga County Judge Joseph C. Zieba has taken the time to write a letter in support of Nancy’s release (See Exhibit 26: Joseph C. Zieba’s Letter of Support).  In his letter, which is his first to parole authorities, Judge Zieba states that he was a full time Visiting Judge in the Cuyahoga County Juvenile Court System at the time of Nancy’s trial and that he felt Nancy Smith suffered a grave injustice by having to stand trial with Joseph Allen, and having the tainted testimony of 3, 4, and 5 year-olds, who were influenced by their parents, presented as the sole evidence against her leading to her conviction.  He states that based on the this grave injustice, which is the worst example of such that he witnessed in his career as a judge, and the great suffering of Nancy Smith and her family, this parole board should return Nancy Smith to society.  

Former Elyria Chronicle-Telegram reporter Paul Facinelli, who does not personally know Nancy in any way, has written on the behalf of Nancy Smith to the Ohio Innocence Project.  Based on his experience as a reporter in Lorain at the time of Nancy’s trial, he states in his letter that “any fair-minded person familiar with the facts in this case should be rightfully appalled by the outcome.” He has volunteered his assistance to aid in anyway to undo this injustice and his letter is a mere token of his continued loyal support (See Exhibit 27: Paul Facinelli’s letter).

Journalist, Author, and Private Investigator Martin Yant has also written a letter of support on behalf of Nancy. (See Exhibit 28:  Martin Yant’s letter). Since 1991, Martin Yant has aided in the release or exoneration of 12 inmates, two originally sentenced to death.  For the past 10 years, he has been investigating Nancy’s innocence claim at his own expense and believes that she was wrongly convicted of the crimes charged and deserves to be returned to her family.  He also believes that Nancy will be a law abiding productive citizen when she is released.  

Nancy’s former attorney Jack Bradley has also written a letter on her behalf.  (See Exhibit 29: Jack Bradley’s letter).  In his letter, he states that Nancy’s case was the worst example of injustice that he has seen in his 30 year career.  He states that the trial was conducted in an unfair manner and even Lorain Police Department Detective Tommy Cantu believed that the allegations against her were “just plain crazy.”  He believes that a complex examination of the facts and circumstance of her case can lead to only one conclusion: parole.   

The entire current and former Ohio Innocence Project, a group of 39 law students and 2 attorneys dedicated to finding the truth behind wrongful conviction claims and aiding those who are actually innocent of the crimes for which they were convicted, have all written letters to show their support for Nancy’s release.  The Project, standing united, believes in Nancy’s innocence and wishes to she Nancy receive the freedom she deserves. (See Exhibit 30: OIP Letters).

To illustrate that upon her release, Nancy will be returning to a family that loves and misses her, various family members have written letters of support.  Her daughter, Courtney Smith, describes in her letter how Nancy never molested her or any of her siblings, but instead worked three jobs to support and car for her and her siblings.  She also discusses the hardships and pain she and her 3 siblings, who were all under the age of 18 at the time of Nancy’s conviction, had to endure since their mother was taken from them.  She begs for her mother back.  Nancy’s sister Diane Piscione has also written a letter stating that she believes her sister has been wrongly convicted, her family has suffered enough due to this injustice, Nancy has made the best of a bad situation and deserves a chance to re-enter society with her newly developed skills. Nancy’s niece Heather Simpkins also has contributed a letter stating that she believes in Nancy’s innocence and never and wishes for her aunt to be returned to their family (See Exhibit 31: Family Letters of Support).

SUMMARY 
Nancy Smith fell victim to a phenomena that plagued courtrooms across the nation for over a decade. Given the series of events mentioned above, she never had a chance to fight for her innocence. Nancy Smith has served 12 years in prison for a crime that she did not commit, as indicated by the overwhelming evidence stated above. The crime that may or may not have happened to these children has been recognized, and regardless of her innocence, Nancy Smith has been punished by being incarcerated through the death of her parents, the births of her grandchildren, and the childhood of her own children. It is time to let Nancy go home to her family. 

Respectfully submitted by,
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______________________________
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